

**BUKTI KORESPONDENSI jurnal internasional TROPIK 1  
CHARATERISTIC EROSI**





## Edition



AT

Attached is the files edited.

Please check the revision was conducted as you want or not.

About the title, we may modify it when we return to Tropics.

Masunaga



JLS297\_Sumatra1\_Edit.docx



JLS297\_Sumatra1Tables.doc



JLS297\_Sumatra2\_Edit.docx



JLS297\_Sumatra2\_Tables.doc



summaryOfWorkPDF.cfm.pdf



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya



aflizar melafu

Revised paper 1



Dari aflizar\_melafu@yahoo.com  
Kepada Tsugiyuki MASUNAGA  
21 Apr 2010 jam 01.04

Dear Sensei

I would like send the revised paper 1.  
I've improved my paper 1. however, I still have limited capabilities. I look forward sensei assistance to complete paper 1

After I completed the repairs of all the graphics for the paper 1 so as soon as I send to sensei

Thank you very much for your help to me and my family.

Sincerely yours



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya



## Revised paper 1



Thank you very much for your help to me and my family.

Sincerely yours

Aflizar



Form 4\_MS919[1].pdf



Form1N-MS919\_Ref-A[1].doc



Form%201N%20\_%20MS919\_Ref-B...



Cover page P1 for reviwer.doc



Text P1 rev for tropic.doc



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya



aflizar melafu

Paper 1



Dari aflizar\_melafu@yahoo.com

Kepada masunaga@life.shimane-u.ac.jp

26 Jan 2010 jam 23.36

Dear sensei

I would like give my first paper

Thank you very much for your help.

Sincerely your

Aflizar



Cover page P2.doc



Figure P2.pdf



Tabel P2.doc



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya



AA



Masunaga Tsugiyuki

P1



Dari masunaga@life.shimane-u.ac.jp  
Kepada aflizar melafu  
3 Des 2009 jam 17.21

Af

Please check the contents in detail very carefully.  
I tried to calarify the story in each paragraph.  
Please try to find it. And  
in case you don't understand. Please tell me  
without hesitation. If you  
don't understand, it is better revise again in that  
part.  
I don't have time to check detail it again.

masunaga



091201P1revised.doc



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya



aflizar melafu

Thank you very much sensei



Dari aflizar\_melafu@yahoo.com

Kepada Masunaga Tsugiyuki

30 Nov 2009 jam 08.15

Dear sense

I would like send the manuscript of paper 1 to sense

Thank you very much on paper 2 revised

I revised P1 and P2 as soon as possible

Thank you very much sense

Aflizar



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya



aflizar melafu

Figure for Paper 1



Dari aflizar\_melafu@yahoo.com

Kepada masunaga@life.shimane-u.ac.jp

1 Jul 2009 jam 08.15

Dear sensei

Good morning sensei

Please, allow me to make report about paper 1.

I have make introduction for paper 1 and discussion planning for figure and table,

I would like say thank you very much for sensei suggestion on our work

Sincerely your



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya





## Figure for Paper 1



Please, allow me to make report about paper 1.

I have make introduction for paper 1 and discussion planning for figure and table,

I would like say thank you very much for sensei suggestion on our work

Sincerely your



introduction, paper 1 to sensei.doc



Figure 1.ppt



Figure 2 new.ppt



Figure 3 new.ppt



figure 4.ppt



Hapus



Arsipkan



Pindahkan



Balas



Lainnya

## Soil erosion characterization in an agricultural watershed in West Sumatra, Indonesia

Quantitative evaluation of soil erosion rates provides important baseline data to investigate, manage and improve land use systems. However, soil erosion analyses have not been sufficiently conducted in Indonesia. In the present study, we investigated the spatial distribution of soil erosion rates in relationship to land use patterns in the Sumani agricultural watershed, the primary rice-producing region in West Sumatra. The soil erosion rate was estimated applying the Universal Soil Loss Equation (*USLE*) using representative soil survey data obtained in the watershed. Sediment delivery ratio (*SDR*, i.e. sediment yield / soil erosion rate) was determined from sediment yield data, which was generated in a previous study. Soil erosion rate in the Sumani watershed was estimated as 43.13 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> in 1992 and 58.91 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> in 2002 (annual averages). These values are far greater than the tolerable soil erosion rates (*TER*) for Indonesia i.e. 14 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup>. Natural factors, including heavy rainfall and local soil properties in a landscape susceptible to soil erosion were the fundamental factors responsible for the high soil erosion in the watershed. In addition to these causes, changes in land use accelerated soil erosion. From 1992 to 2002, the soil erosion rate showed a 37% increase due to forest conversion to agricultural fields. *SDR* in five sub-watersheds exhibited relatively small values ranging from 6% to 15%, indicating an accumulation of eroded soil particles in flat areas in the lower part of the watershed where the land is primarily allocated to sawah.

**Key words:** *USLE*, Indonesia, land use change, erosion, sediments

**Commented [JS1]:** Your study provides valuable baseline data to support a management/planning approach to circumvent erosion in the Sumani watershed. You have demonstrated that the current levels of erosion far exceed the *TER*, which can lead to water quality and environmental degradation among other problems e.g. the affects of eutrophication on freshwater ecosystems. You have a solid foundation for a multi-level plan that incorporates an agricultural and consequently ecosystem component. I have made comments throughout the manuscript both in terms of English and content. Thank you.

**Commented [JS2]:** Was all of this completed in a previous study or just the sediment yield data generated in a previous study. It isn't clear from your writing. I assume the latter and have therefore edited making this assumption.

## INTRODUCTION

Soil erosion in Indonesia is one of the most serious environmental degradation problems the country faces (Kusumandari and Mitchell, 1997). Watershed soil erosion and subsequent river deposition are of the utmost concern in circumventing erosional processes for two reasons. First, rich fertile soil is eroded from watersheds; and second, this results in a reduction in reservoir capacity and a degradation of downstream water quality (European Environment Agency, 1995; Zhou and Wu, 2008). Deforestation due to forest fires, grazing, legal and illegal logging, inappropriate methods of tillage or other agricultural practices accelerates soil erosion, resulting in large increases in sediment inflow into streams (Pimentel, 1998). Approximately two million  $\text{ha}^{-1}\text{y}^{-1}$  of Indonesian forest have been lost due to deforestation, including land use conversion to agriculture (World Resources Institute, 2003). Deforestation increased the soil erosion rate from approximately six to 12  $\text{Mg ha}^{-1}\text{y}^{-1}$ , which resulted in economic losses of US \$340-406 million per year in 1989, caused by the reduction of agricultural production in Java Island (World Bank, 1989).

The Sumani watershed is the primary rice-producing region in West Sumatra and faces Lake Singkarak (107.8  $\text{km}^2$ , 364 m asl), which supplies hydroelectricity for West Sumatra and Riau Province. The watershed exhibits hilly topography and high yearly precipitation ( $> 2400 \text{ mm y}^{-1}$ ), indicative of a landscape susceptible to erosion. Heavy rainfall characteristic of the region has induced flooding and landslides, resulting in

economic risks and endangering human life in the watershed. In addition, population increases in Sumatra have accelerated a land use shift from forest to agricultural fields with intensive cultivation practices, exacerbating soil erosion in the watershed. Sharp fluctuations in the river water levels, and flooding in the lower parts of the watershed in recent years can be attributed to eroded materials sedimentation in the lower river streams and tributaries. These events have caused serious damage to downstream villages and the infrastructure of the Sumani watershed. In addition, Lake Singkarak hydroelectric power plant ceased operations due to high amounts of suspended soil in the water to avoid problems with facilities operations (pers. comm.).

Therefore, land management planning for the Sumani watershed must be reevaluated and new management instituted to mitigate natural and man-induced problems and reduce soil erosion. In order to achieve this, the present status of soil erosion in relationship to land use patterns in the watershed must be assessed. However, it is not practical to conduct direct measurements over the entire watershed due to its extensive area. Therefore, due to the time and financial constraints associated with such large field intensive studies, it is more common to estimate soil erosion using models. Several types of models to estimate soil erosion have been developed and applied worldwide, including Universal Soil Loss Equation (*USLE*, Wischmeier and Smith, 1978), WEPP (Amore et al. 2004), ANSWERS (Ahmadi et al. 2006), AGNPS (Walling et al. 2003) and EUROSEM (Morgon et al. 1998). Among process-based models, WEPP, ANSWERS, AGNPS and EUROSEM provide logical results. However, these models require numerous input data that are generally not available and difficult to measure in most watersheds in Indonesia due to financial and technical limitations. *USLE* has been used as an evaluation tool for soil conservation throughout Indonesia (Kusumandari et

Commented [JS3]: What types of economic risks?

al. 1997; Moehansyah et al. 2004) because it accepts rather small data sets and is easy to adopt. The Ministry of Agriculture and Ministry of Forestry in Indonesia set up a soil erosion standard based on a *USLE* estimated value (Indonesian Government Role No. 41 in 1999) to control soil erosion. In general, there is no single best model for all applications. Consequently, the most appropriate model depends on the purpose of the study and the characteristics of the watershed (Shamshad et al. 2008). In the present study, *USLE* was judged sufficient to estimate soil erosion rates as it provides a relative ranking of watershed soil loss risk when accurate parameter values are used. In addition, as mentioned above, *USLE* has been used as a soil conservation evaluation tool in Indonesia. However, despite its application, few studies have been conducted that measure or estimate soil erosion processes in Indonesia.

In the present study, we characterized soil erosion conditions under current land management systems in the Sumani watershed. We used *USLE* and applied the kriging method (Golden software 2002), with the aim of mapping the spatial distribution of soil erosion rates and dominant erosion factors influencing erosion. The results of our study served to generate data to provide discussion for better management of the Sumani watershed. This is the first study in Indonesia to map the soil erosion status at a watershed scale of the Sumani, 58,330 ha, based on detailed soil analyses data. We felt confident we could produce more precise estimate values than previous studies in Indonesia.

**Commented [JS4]:** This reference should be included in your other manuscript when you cite applying the kriging method.

## MATERIAL AND METHODS

### Study area

The Sumani watershed occupies 58,330 ha and is located in Solok regency (latitude 0° 36'08" to 1° 44'08" S, longitude 100°24'11" - 101°15'438" E) in West Sumatra, Indonesia (Fig. 1). The watershed outlet is Lake Singkarak. Average annual precipitation ranges from 1669 to 3230 mm, and the watershed occupies an elevation from 300 m to 2500 m above sea level (asl) (Farida et al. 2005). Average annual temperature ranges from 19 to 30 °C, which varies along an altitudinal gradient. Average annual humidity varies from 78.1 to 89.4%. The Sumani watershed provides a range of land uses, including primary forests, tree crop gardens (mixed gardens, coconuts and tea gardens), vegetable gardens, sawah, bush (shrubs, grasses and *alang-alang* [land dominated by *Imperata cylindrica* (Poaceae)]) and settlements. The term sawah refers to a levelled and bounded rice field with an inlet and outlet for irrigation and drainage (Wakatsuki et al. 1998). Mixed garden refers to land where perennial crops, primarily trees such as coconuts, cloves, coffee, teak, mahogany, sawo (*Achras zapota* L.), avocados, melinjo (*Gnetum gnemon*), rubber, and cinnamon are planted in a combination with annual crops (Karyono, 1990). Chillies (*Capsicum annum* L.), onions (*Allium cepa* L.), soybeans (*Glycine max* L.), corn (*Zea mays* L.) and sweet potatoes (*Ipomea batatas* L.) are the major crops in vegetable gardens. The watershed is divided into eight geological types, i.e. breccia andesit of Mt. Talang; alluvium of andesit volcano; lava; colluvial deposite; welded tuff; quartz; slate shale part of tuhur form; lava andesit to basalt (Farida et al. 2005). The Sumani watershed (SW) consists of five sub-watersheds including Sumani (S1), Lembang (S2), Gawan (S3), Aripan (S4) and Imang (S5).

### Fields survey and analytical methods

**Commented [JS5]:** Does rainfall increase with elevation?

**Commented [JS6]:** Does temperature decrease with elevation?

**Commented [JS7]:** Is this correct? Please edit for accuracy.

**Commented [JS8]:** Do you need to include the dominant species to characterize these plant communities.

**Commented [JS9]:** Include the authority. See my comment just below.

**Commented [JS10]:** You have an authority for most of the species but not all of them. I suggest you are consistent and include the authority for all the species.

**Commented [JS11]:** Authority.

**Commented [JS12]:** I consulted a geologist for the eight geologic types. His comments, inserted in your text are as follows: breccia; andesites of Mt. Talang; alluvium from andesitic volcanic sources; lava (this is redundant and should be removed - lava statement at end is better); colluvial deposits; welded tuff; quartz (this is highly unlikely - there really are no quartz deposits - there are quartz veins, quartzites, quartz rich andesites; slate shale (slate is metamorphic and shale is sedimentary - its unlikely that one formation has both - it is likely shale) that are part of the Tuhur Formation; andesitic to basaltic lava (Farida et al. 2005).

**Commented [JS13]:** You use the sub-watershed abbreviations in your other manuscript but do not define them. You need to include context in your other manuscript.

Soil surveys were conducted at 81 sites (42 sites in 2002 and 39 sites in 2006) occupying a variety of geomorphic positions and land use types (Figure 1). Soils were collected at depths of 0-20 cm and 20-40 cm. Soil samples were air dried and sieved through a 2 mm mesh for physico-chemical analyses. The Walkley and Black type method (IITA, 1979) was used to determine organic carbon content. Soil permeability followed the protocol of De Boot (Reeve, 1965). Soil texture was determined by the pipette method (Gee and Bauder, 1986), and bulk density was established by volumetric sample (Blake and Hartge, 1986). During the field surveys, we also confirmed watershed soil, vegetation types and land uses.

In addition, we conducted a preliminary study of the water quality in the main rivers of the watershed, i.e. the Sumani and Lembang Rivers (Fig. 1). We collected water samples at five points along the main rivers and determined  $\text{PO}_4\text{-P}$  and  $\text{NO}_3\text{-N}$  concentrations every month from August 2006 to February 2007. Nitrate nitrogen concentration was determined using the diazotization method following the cadmium reduction protocol; and  $\text{PO}_4\text{-P}$  concentration was ascertained using the ascorbic acid technique following the standard methods of water analyses (American Public Health Association/American Water Works Association/ Water Environment Federation, 1995).

### Data processing for mapping

USLE data processing was conducted in Surfer<sup>®</sup> 8 (Golden software, 2002) with factors obtained from meteorological stations, detailed soil surveys, topographic maps, and all data from other applicable studies.

**Commented [JS14]:** I am not sure of this protocol. I looked at your references. Is De Boot the name of a method or a reference in Reeve (1965)? I think it is a reference, but you do not have a date here. You should have De Boot (date) in Reeve (1965). By the way, Reeve (1965) is not in alphabetical order in your references. It should follow Pimentel and precede Renard. I didn't check the remainder of your references, but you should probably recheck.

**Commented [JS15]:** Surfer is an excellent surface interpolation program. I am familiar with it for its use in mining and natural resource modeling because it is less expensive and more robust than most other available programs. It specializes in kriging. Kriging goes further than a simple distance weighting to find data for a point where you have neighboring data but no direct value – it is valuable as it applies statistical predictive methodology. Good choice :).

**Commented [JS16]:** I suggest not using this vague wording. What other applicable studies are you referring to?

## Mapping Procedure

Regionalized variable theory successfully applied to soil properties interpolation for nearly 30 years was used in the present study. In this way, all *USLE* factor data described in the study could be successfully processed and mapped. Interpolation is a Surfer<sup>®</sup> 8 term for an optimal Delaunay triangulation. The algorithm generates triangles by drawing lines between data points. The original points are connected in such a way that no triangle edges are intersected by other triangles. The result is a patchwork of triangular faces over the extent of the grid. The method is an exact interpolator (Golden software, 2002). The theory provides a convenient summary of data variability (in the form of a semi-variogram) and an interpolation technique, i.e. a kriging method. From a theoretical point of view, kriging provides the best linear unbiased estimates, a more accurate description of the data spatial structure and valuable information regarding estimation error distributions (Kravchenko and Bullock, 1999). Individual files for respective *USLE* factor parameters and the others were constructed by grid modeling procedures in Surfer<sup>®</sup> 8 (Golden software, 2002) to calculate soil erosion rates in a spatial domain.

A 1:50000 topographic map, including the Sumani watershed, was input to Surfer<sup>®</sup> 8 by manual digitization. This vector elevation map was converted into grid format with a spatial resolution of 125 m x 125 m. Based on kriging in Surfer<sup>®</sup> 8, an interpolation routine was employed to derive the elevation surface from the rasterized line data. Takata et al. (2008) details the kriging method and its applications. The digital elevation map (DEM) served as the foundation raster layer for other

**Commented [JS17]:** I divided your sentence into two sentences. However, the English in this part of your sentence was difficult to interpret. I do not know what you mean by “factors described later and the other data”. Why can’t you just sum this up as all the data you plan to process and map? You will have to edit my wording for content accuracy if I have misrepresented your content.

**Commented [JS18]:** I am still uncertain of “the others”. Personally, I do not like this type of ambiguity in a manuscript and prefer authors to be succinct.



topographic-related analyses. The soil properties, land use types, and other related attributes were also input to Surfer<sup>®</sup> 8 by manual digitization and keyboard entry. Polygons and their attributes were connected with uniform code. Polygon is the command method to draw an irregularly shaped area. These vector maps were also converted into rasters, which had the same reference system and resolution as the DEM. The data sources were converted into a grid format. Each grid was defined based on an exact location in space determined by the grid orientation and grid size, and each grid was allocated its specific attributes. To predict soil erosion rate in the spatial domain, a map unit was set at 125 m by 125 m, which was the finest resolution size available with the given data set and authors' computational facilities. Each grid was assumed a single slope plane in order to apply a *USLE* to each grid.

**Commented [JS19]:** I'm not certain you need to state this. It is widely known.

**Commented [JS20]:** Is this what you mean? The English was difficult.

**Commented [JS21]:** I did not understand the English at the end of this sentence.

### *USLE*

*USLE* expresses mean annual soil loss as a function of six erosion factors:

$$E = R \times K \times L \times S \times C \times P \quad (1)$$

where  $E$  is estimated soil loss in  $\text{Mg ha}^{-1}\text{y}^{-1}$ ,  $R$  is rainfall erosivity (dimensionless);  $K$  is inherent soil erodibility (dimensionless);  $L$  is slope length factor (dimensionless);  $S$  is slope factor (dimensionless);  $C$  is crop cover factor (dimensionless); and  $P$  is a factor that accounts for the effects of soil conservation practices (dimensionless).

Distributions of respective factors in the watershed are summarized in Figure 2 (a-h).

The watershed was divided into 39316 grids of size 125 m x 125 m. Basic data were allocated or estimated in each grid by reading maps and a Landsat image for land use types and altitude or the kriging method for application and soil properties. Based

**Commented [JS22]:** Application of what? I am missing something here.

on these data, *USLE* factors were calculated in each grid unit. Among the above factors, *C*- and *P*-factors can be field modified to improve soil erosion and agro-economical conditions in the watershed.

### Rainfall erosivity factor (*R*)

The *R*-factor is rainfall erosivity, which predicts the potential for precipitation to cause soil erosion. To compute the monthly *R*-factor value, the following equation proposed by Bols (1998) for Indonesia was applied:

$$R = 6.19(Rf)^{1.21}(Rn)^{-0.47}(Rm)^{0.53} \quad (2)$$

where *R* is monthly erosivity, *Rf* is total monthly rainfall, *Rn* is the number of days of rain per month, and *Rm* is the maximum rainfall during 24 hours in an observed month.

Table 2 shows general monthly rainfall data and monthly *R*-factor values calculated with the above equation for two study periods. A clear dry season has not been observed in the study area, therefore the monthly rainfall and *R*-factors did not exhibit a seasonal pattern. The results indicated a highly fluctuating seasonal pattern on a yearly basis.

**Commented [JS23]:** You refer to Table 2 before Table 1. You should refer to tables in chronological order i.e. your first reference should be to Table 1.

**Commented [JS24]:** The way this was worded suggested it was atypical for the area. Is this correct? I integrated this into your other manuscript. Please edit for accuracy.

**Commented [JS25]:** These are results. Most often, you should only present your methods in this section.

### Soil erodibility factor (*K*)

*K*-factors represent soil susceptibility to erosion and the rate of runoff measured under standard plot conditions. The *K*-factor value was computed using the following equation (Wischmeier and Smith, 1978):

$$100K = 2.713 M^{1.14}(10^{-4})(12-a) + 3.25(b-2) + 2.5(c-3) \quad (3)$$

where  $M$  is given by  $[(St - Svf)/100] - Cf$ ,  $a$  is the percentage of soil organic matter content,  $b$  is the structural code,  $c$  is the soil permeability class code,  $St$ ,  $Svf$  and  $Cf$  are the percentage of silt, very fine sand and clay fractions, respectively. Soil data are shown in Figure 1 and Table 1.

In general, for successful application of the model  $R$ - and  $K$ -factors are the most important characteristics of local conditions that require evaluation (Chris and Harbor, 2002). Not all of the grids possessed precipitation and/or soil data analyses to calculate  $R$ - and  $K$ -factors. In this case, interpolation by the nearest neighbor kriging method (Golden software, 2002) assigned the value from the nearest grid possessing soil analyses data. This method is useful and provides robust results as reported by Goovaerts (2000) and Takata et al. (2008).

### Slope length and steepness factor ( $LS$ )

Each grid was considered a single slope plane. The  $LS$ -factor was calculated using the so-called power form of equation (Wischmeier and Smith, 1978). Liu et al. (2000) reported that the slope length exponent in the equation did not change with an increase in slope gradient from 20 to 60%, while it changed in the condition with that less than 20%. Therefore, in the present study two equations, i.e. (4) for slope gradient less than 20% and (5) for slope gradient >20% were used separately (Renard and Jeremy, 1994; Irvem et al. 2007)

$$LS = (L/22)^m (65.41 \sin^2 X - 4.56 \sin X + 0.065) \quad (4)$$

$$LS = (L/22)^{0.7} (6.432 \sin (X^{0.79}) \cos (X)) \quad (5)$$

**Commented [JS26]:** I am not familiar with this. The wording is awkward. Is this the specific manner in which it should be worded? I researched the term but could not find it.

**Commented [JS27]:** I cannot understand your English in this latter part of the sentence. I tried several times to work through it without success.

where  $L$  is the slope length in m,  $S$  is slope percentage,  $X$  is the degree of slope, and  $m$  is an exponent that varies with slope gradients, i.e. 0.2 for  $< 1\%$ , 0.3 for  $1 - 3\%$ , 0.4 for  $3.5 - 4.5\%$  and 0.5 for  $> 5\%$ .

### Cover crop ( $C$ ) and conservation practices ( $P$ ) factors

Land use types in the Sumani watershed were investigated by interpreting Landsat TM 2002 images, which were confirmed with field surveys in August 2007 and 1992 land use maps based on aerial photographs. Abdurachman et al. (1984) (Table 3) indicated that  $C$ - and  $P$ -factors are land use features that do not vary widely among regions. Each land use type possesses a cover crop ( $C$ ) factor value. Forest exhibited the smallest and vegetable garden the highest  $C$ -factors, with the exception of settlements. Major soil conservation practices used in the Sumani watershed were based on ground coverage by grasses or shrubs in vegetable, mixed and coconut gardens, and terrace in sawah (Table 3). The conservation practice ( $P$ ) factor is the soil erosion ratio associated with a specific conservation practice, and determines the corresponding soil erosion with up-and-down slope tillage (Renard et al. 1997). Farmers typically apply the same conservation practices for the same land use type in the Sumani watershed, therefore a  $P$ -factor was given to a land use type following the values suggested by Abdurachman et al. (1984) (see Table 3). The land use patterns in the Sumani watershed in 1992 and 2002 are depicted in Figure 3 (a, b).

**Commented [JS28]:** Why don't you state settlement exhibited the highest C-factor?

**Commented [JS29]:** The English here was difficult. Is this what you mean?

**Commented [JS30]:** Again, the English was difficult to interpret in this sentence. I am not certain what you were trying to express here.

### Tolerable erosion rate (TER) for agricultural production

TER is defined as a maximum rate of soil erosion that permits crop productivity to be sustained economically (Renard et al. 1997) and is a fundamental indicator for soil conservation planning. However, in soil conservation planning activities in Indonesia, the TER value has been influenced by local government policies. For economic reasons, soil erosion in agricultural lands has often been permitted to exceed guidelines of soil erosion values set by local governments. Therefore, the Indonesian government decided to establish a TER related to sustainable agricultural production at the national level. According to the Indonesian government's technology manual for soil and water conservation, the TER cannot exceed  $14 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1}\text{y}^{-1}$  and was based on plot experiments conducted in the country (Kusumandari et al. 1997; Department of Forestry, 1985). It is higher than that of China, which is  $<10 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1}\text{y}^{-1}$  (Shi et al. 2004). In the present study, we used this TER as a criterion to evaluate the soil erosion status in the Sumani watershed.

#### **Sediment delivery ratio (SDR)**

Walling et al. (1994) reported that *USLE* calculates the total mass of sediment delivery, which will be approximately two to seven times higher than the sediment yields measured at watershed outlets. Sediment delivery ratio (*SDR*) is the amount of sediment that is actually transported from eroding sources to a measurement point, such as the watershed outlet compared to the total amount of soil that is lost over the same area above the point of detachment (Lu et al. 2006; Zhou et al. 2008). It is dimensionless and is conventionally expressed as follows:

$$SDR (\%) = Y/E \times 100 \quad (6)$$

where  $Y$  is the average annual sediment yield per unit area and  $E$  is the average annual erosion rate for the same area in  $\text{Mg ha}^{-1}\text{y}^{-1}$ . Sediment yield data for 1992 was obtained from Saidi (1995). Sediment samples were collected from the five sub-watershed outlets and one watershed outlet collection at a monthly time-step for a period of one year (August 1992-July 1993). The 1992  $SDR$  was calculated based on the sediment yield values and soil erosion rates estimated in the present study; 1992  $SDR$  was used to estimate 2002 sediment yield.

**Commented [JS31]:** The English in this part of the sentence was difficult to decipher.

**Commented [JS32]:** Do you need to delimit the exact collection point?

**Commented [JS33]:** What do you mean by “time-step”?

## RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

### Spatial distribution of $R$ -, $K$ -, $LS$ -, $C$ - and $P$ - factors

The Sumani watershed was separated into three rain erosivity classes based on data derived from three climatology stations (Fig. 2a, b).  $R$ -factors were low in lowlands near Lake Singkarak and increased in upper topographical positions in the watershed, which were attributed to increases in precipitation.

**Commented [JS34]:** Did elevation play a role in this as well? I made the assumption this was due to an increase in precipitation. Is this correct? You did not state this definitively. Please edit for accuracy.

Soil properties and  $K$ -factors for respective soil groups classified in field surveys are shown in Table 1, and  $K$ -factor distributions are depicted in Figure 2c. Four soil orders including six groups, i.e. Oxic Hapuldant, Andic Humitropept, Typic Kanduidult, Aeric Trophaquept, Typic Distropept and Typic Eutropept (Soil Survey Staff, 1990) were identified in the watershed. Soil group distribution was dependent on the type of parent material and topographical position. Both Oxic Hapuldant and Andic Humitropept are derived from volcanic ash materials and are distributed in the upland area of Lembang and Sumani sub-watersheds, where closed Mt. Talang. Typic Kanduidult is derived from lava colluvial deposits, andesites or basalts, and is

**Commented [JS35]:** I don't know what you mean by “where closed Mt. Talang”. The sentence is incomplete.

**Commented [JS36]:** Please refer to the geologic type comments above.

distributed in the lowlands and uplands of the Aripan sub-watershed and in the mid-Lembang sub-watershed. Aeric Tropaquept is derived from alluvium and lava colluvial deposits distributed in the lowlands of the Sumani, Lembang, Aripan, and Gawan dan Imang sub-watersheds. Typic Distropept is derived from lava colluvial deposits and is distributed in the Imang, Gawan and Sumani sub-watersheds. Typic Eutropept is derived from lava colluvial deposits and is distributed only in the Aripan sub-watershed.

The *K*-factor ranged from 0.001 to 0.48 and was clearly not attributed to soil groups, land use or topographical positions, but soil properties at specific sites in the watershed. Soils with low infiltration exhibited *K*-factors higher than 0.04 and were generally susceptible to soil erosion (Wischmeier and Smith, 1978; Cassel and Lal, 1992). Approximately 96% of the soils investigated in the Sumani watershed showed *K*-factors higher than 0.04, indicating the soil property of the watershed was largely susceptible to soil erosion.

Figure 2d depicts the distribution of *LS*-factors in the watershed. The values ranged from 0.001 to 4.52, and its average and standard deviation were  $1.4 \pm 1.3$ , respectively. Lowland areas with an altitude less than 500 m asl and land use of terraced sawah in middle to upper topographical areas showed relatively small *LS*-factors.

In terms of land use change in the Sumani watershed, forest area decreased by 13% from 1992 to 2002 (Table 4 and Fig. 3), and was primarily converted to agricultural fields, such as mixed and vegetable gardens. Some agricultural fields were converted to shrub and settlements during the ten-year period. The increase in mixed

**Commented [JS37]:** What do you think has occurred over the last eight years? I've had that thought throughout the manuscript. Do you believe similar trends have continued?

and vegetable gardens varied in sub-watersheds, as the original land use patterns differed. The agricultural fields increased by 18.2% in S5, and decreased by 6.9% in S2. Details on sub-watershed land use change are discussed below in relationship to soil erosion rates. Land use change experienced extensive progression in the period of economic crisis in Indonesia during 1997-1999. These land use changes affected *C*-factors (Fig. 2e, f and Table 4) and *P*-factors (Fig. 2g, h). The average *C*-factor in the Sumani watershed increased from 0.21 in 1992 to 0.27 in 2002 (Table 4) due to a decrease in forest cover, which exhibited the lowest *C*-factor of 0.001. The *P*-factor decreased from 1992 to 2002 (Fig. 2g, h) due to forest conversion to agricultural fields. Soil conservation practices were applied, resulting in a lower *P*-factor relative to forests (*P*-factor = 1.0). Although decreased *P*-factors contributed to a reduction in soil erosion, values multiplied by *C*- and *P*- factors were still lower in forest than other land use areas. Therefore, the soil erosion rates in 2002 had increased due to land use changes relative to 1992. It should be noted that between 1992 and 2002, most of the sawah area was not changed (Fig. 3a, b). This was because very high priority was given to developing and maintaining sawah in the watershed, as it remains the main rice-producing region in Indonesia.

### **Soil erosion rates in the Sumani watershed**

*USLE* estimated soil erosion rates for 1992 and 2002 are depicted in Figure 4. Soil erosion rates were classified into seven ordinal classes (Fig. 4a, b). The annual average soil erosion rate in the Sumani watershed (SW) was estimated at 43.13 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> in 1992 and 58.91 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> in 2002 (Table 5). Soil erosion rates greater than 100 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> were detected in areas of steep slope during both years. These areas exhibited the



highest *R*-, *K*- and *LS*-factors in the watershed (Fig. 2a, b, c, d), indicating the strong influence of natural factors on soil erosion. In addition, a close relationship between the distribution of soil erosion rates and land use patterns was shown by visual inspection of Figures 3 and 4. Soil erosion rates were generally very high in areas of vegetable and mixed garden land use types, especially with steep slopes, indicated by high *LS*-factors (Figure 2d). In contrast, soil erosion rates less than 0, indicating deposition, were found in lowlands where sawah was the major land use type. In 1992, 57.1% of the watershed area, including sawah, mixed and vegetable gardens in flat areas and forests exhibited soil erosion rates less than the TER (<14 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup>). According to the erosion risk class criteria of Odura (1996) and Irvem et al. (2007), 7.2, 8.8, and 26.9% of the watershed areas were classified into low (14-28 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup>), medium (28-56 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup>), and high (>56 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup>) level classes, respectively.

The conversion of forest into agricultural fields, i.e. mixed and vegetable gardens in the Sumani watershed in 1992 and 2002 was more evident in sub-watersheds S1, S3 and S5, where forest coverage was relatively high in 1992. In S5, forest area was reduced by more than 70%. Mixed and vegetable gardens exhibited an increase, with subsequent abandonment as indicated by an increase in bush between 1992 and 2002 (Table 4). Some S2 mixed garden was reduced and converted to bush. The human population in the watershed increased by 6716 people between 2000-2002 (Solok statistical agency, 2002). The 1992 and 2002 data show that settlements increased in all sub-watersheds. As the consequence of these land use changes, the average *C*-factor increased, particularly in S1, S3 and S5, which further resulted in average soil erosion rate increases in the sub-watersheds and the Sumani watershed (Table 5). In S3 and S5, the soil erosion rate

**Commented [JS38]:** Is this what you mean? The English in your sentence was not clear.

**Commented [JS39]:** You did not have the less than sign "<", but I have added it since you indicate the areas had rates less than the TER.

exceeded  $90 \text{ Mg ha}^{-1}\text{y}^{-1}$ , indicating the results of land use change in the absence of proper planning.

In order to reduce soil erosion in the Sumani watershed, the application of soil conservation measures must be considered, especially in vegetable and mixed gardens that have moderately high *C*-factors. Soil conservation measures have been applied to agricultural fields in the watershed. A stone terrace was in place at the sawah and vegetable gardens in upper topographical areas around Mt. Talang and Lake Dibawah. Stone embankments were also built in hillside slope areas. However, these conservation measures have been practiced in limited areas by farmers and not instituted by local or state governments. It is necessary to develop soil conservation plans for the entire watershed at the local or higher-level government scales. According to the Indonesian Soil and Water Conservation Act, agricultural fields developed on slopes greater than 45 percent should be reforested, and those developed on slopes from 25 to 45 percent can be controlled for erosion by terraced sawah and agroforestry. Shi et al. (2004) reported that as slope gradients increased above 10%, the spacing between terraces decreased, which made construction cost more expensive and limited the adoption of terrace development. Consequently, priority is typically given to other soil conservation measures, including irregular strip planting, contour planting and hedgerow systems in soil conservation on steep sloping areas in the Sumani watershed. Terracing is considered only if the other practices are not practical or effective for use with the agricultural system.

Land use types meeting the TER for a given area could in fact be most suitable to the region (Figs. 3 and 4). For example, mixed and vegetable gardens, and sawah were recommended as suitable land use types in the S1, S2 and S4 lower topographical areas

**Commented [JS40]:** Do you have state governments? If not, you need to word this to indicate a next step higher government level.

(300 – 500 m asl), particularly because these land uses produce agro-economical benefit. In the sloping middle to upper topographical positions of the watershed, steepness and length of slope were decisive factors for specific land use types. In the sloping areas, soil conservation measures are essential regardless of the land use type, with the exception of forest, in order to maintain soil erosion rates under the TER. Under the present conditions, some areas with vegetable and mixed gardens or shrubs in mid- to upper topographical positions of the watershed exhibited soil erosion rates exceeding 100 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup>. These areas were located on steep 35% to 50% slopes. *USLE* simulation recommended forest as the only suitable land use type (data not shown).

#### **Sediment delivery ratio (*SDR*)**

Sediment yield data measured in 1992 to 1993 (Saidi, 1995) and *SDR* values in the Sumani watershed (and in other countries for comparison) are shown in Table 5. Sediment yields ranged from 3.49 to 6.64 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> in sub-watersheds, and SW sediment yield was 4.53 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup>. *SDR* ranged from 5.87 to 15.41% in sub-watersheds and 10.50% in the SW. *SDR* was low in the SW compared with the value reported by Walling et al. (1994), i.e. ranged from approximately 15 to 50%. The inconsistencies between the two measures might be due to deposition of eroded soils in lowland sawah in these study sites. Sediment yield in the SW was estimated at 6.18 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> in 2002 and reached a soil erosion rate of 360.5 Gg y<sup>-1</sup> for all the SW. It is widely demonstrated that (e.g. Shively, 2006) soil erosion and sedimentation in water reservoirs degrades the quality of drinking water, increases the risk of flash floods, and reduces aquatic ecosystem productivity. Moreover, the Sumani watershed sediment

load negatively impacted the hydroelectric power plant operations in Lake Singkarak (pers. comm.).

Average soil erosion and sediment yield in the Sumani watershed were lower than watersheds investigated in Malaysia, and higher than those in European countries (Table 5). In the Malaysian watersheds, rubber plantations occupied 50% of the watershed areas in terms of land use (Shamsyad et al. 2008), which resulted in an average *C*-factor of 0.37 and high soil erosion rates ranging 93.76 to 152.72 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>y<sup>-1</sup> in SW. In Greece and France, respectively low levels of precipitation; approximately 500 mm y<sup>-1</sup> and 965 mm y<sup>-1</sup> were the main reason for minimal average soil erosion rates. However, the difference in sediment yields was relatively small among all the watersheds compared in Table 5. *SDR* in the Sumani and Malaysian watersheds was smaller than European sites (Table 5). This can be explained by the deposition of eroded soils in lowland sawah in Indonesia and Malaysia, where agricultural practice uses lowlands as sawah. Although we did not directly determine eroded soil deposition into the sawah, we speculate that a quantity of soil particles that eroded in upper topographical positions in the watershed were transported and accumulated into lowland sawah.

### **River water quality**

Land use change from forest to agricultural fields accelerated soil erosion and increased sediment yield (as described above). This is likely to cause water quality degradation downstream, including eutrophication. Nitrogen and phosphorous are the major nutrients lost from agricultural fields that can be non-point sources of these nutrients, and are the cause of lake eutrophication (Ekholm, 2005; Woli et al. 2008). Average concentrations of PO<sub>4</sub>-P and NO<sub>3</sub>-N in river and irrigation water in the SW ranged from

**Commented [JS41]:** You have "in SW" here. I thought you were discussing Malaysian watersheds.

0.09 – 1.8 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and 3.9 – 5.4 mg L<sup>-1</sup> from August 2006 to February 2007, respectively. According to Daniel et al. (1998), total P and N concentrations should not exceed 0.05 and 1.1 mg L<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, in rivers entering lakes and reservoirs to control eutrophication. Both P and N exceeded these levels, which has probably resulted in eutrophication in the lower streams and in Lake Singkarak. In fact, abnormally high levels of algal and aquatic plant blooming have been observed in the Sumani watershed (pers. comm.). Although we have no quantitative data on the contribution of soil erosion to the nutrient loss from agricultural fields, soil erosion has surely accelerated the loss.

## **CONCLUSIONS**

Overall, soil erosion rates in the Sumani watershed were high due to precipitation and soil properties in a landscape susceptible to soil erosion. In addition to these natural conditions, recent conversion of forest ecosystems to agricultural fields, i.e. mixed and vegetable gardens have likely accelerated soil erosion processes. Soil erosion status exceeded the TER in 2002 and was characteristic of a “high” erosion class (Odura, 1996; Irvem et al. 2007). Soil erosion results in watershed degradation, including both soil and water resources, which has and likely continues to occur in the Sumani watershed. Nitrate-N and PO<sub>4</sub>-P contamination in river water can be explained by soil erosion, which can ultimately lead to lake/reservoir eutrophication. It is vital to control soil erosion in the watershed to reduce the risks of resource and environmental

degradation that are directly related to risks to human health. It is a complex balance to manage, because we must develop a means to maximize the benefits of agricultural production, while reducing the risk of soil erosion in the watershed. The Sumani watershed sustains human life and is a viable, functioning ecosystem. Natural environmental factors affecting erosion such as rainfall and soil cannot be changed, however better land use planning and management for the Sumani watershed can be implemented. This is the focus of our next study.

No need to edit the section below.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (Grant-in-Aid Scientific Research No. 18405043 and No. 19002001). I also thank to Indonesia Directorate of Higher Education Department with Ministry of National Education, Indonesia and National Polytechnic of Agriculture Payakumbuh for the permission of my study in Japan.

#### REFERENCES

- American Public Health Association/American Water Works Association/Water Environment Federation. 1995. Standard Method for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. 18th edn. American Public Health Association/American Water Works Association/Water Environment Federation, Washington. pp. 4-89-115.
- Abdurachman, A., Abuyamin. S. & Kurnia, U. 1984. Pengelolaan Tanah and Tanaman untuk Usaha Konservasi (Soil and Crop Management for Conservation Enterprises), Pusat Penelitian Tanah Bogor. In: *Hidrologi dan Pengelolaan Daerah Aliran Sungai (Hydrology and Watershed Management)*. (eds. Asdak, C), Gajah Mada University Press, Yogyakarta, p. 371-374 (in Indonesian).
- Ahmadi, S.H., Amin, S., Keshavarzi, A.R. & Mirzamostafa, N. 2006. Simulating watershed outlet sediment concentration using the ANSWERS Model by

applying two sediment transport capacity equations. *Biosystems Engineering*, **94**: 615-626.

Amore, E., Modica, C., Mark, A., Nearing, N.A. & Santoro, V.C. 2004. Scale effect in USLE and WEPP Application for soil erosion computation from three Sicilian basins. *Journal of Hydrology*, **293**: 100-114.

Bols, P.C. 1998: The Iso-erodent map of Java and Madura. Bogor, Indonesia, Belgian Technical Assistant Project ATA 105, Soil Research Institute, Bogor, Indonesia. In: *Field Evaluation of Selected Soil Erosion Models for Catchment Management in Indonesia*. (eds. Moehansyah, H., Maheshwari, B.L. & Armstrong, J.), *Biosystems Engineering*, **88**, p. 491-506.

Bakker, M.M., Govers, G., Doorn, A.V., Quentier, F., Chouvardas, D. & Rounsevell, M. 2008. The response of soil erosion and sediment export to land-use change in four areas of Europe: The importance of landscape pattern. *Geomorphology*, **98**: 213-226.

Blake, G.R. 1986. Bulk Density. In: *Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 1. Physical and Mineralogical Methods*, (eds. Klute, A.), *American Society of Agronomy and Soil Science Society of America*, Madison, Wisconsin, p. 364-367.

Cassel, D.K. & Lal, R. 1992. Soil physical properties of the tropics: Common beliefs and management constraints. In: *Myths and science of Soils of the Tropics* (eds. Lal, R & Sanchez, P.A.), *Soil Science Society of America Journal, SSA Special publication*, 29, Madison, Wisconsin, p. 61-89.



- Chris, S.R. & Harbor, H. 2002. Soil erosion assessment tools from point to regional scales-the role of geomorphologists in land management research and implication. *Geomorphology*, **47**: 189-209.
- Daniel, T.C., Sharpley, A.N. & Lemunyon, J.L. 1998. Agricultural phosphorous and eutrophication; A symposium overview. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, **27**: 252-257.
- Department of Forestry. 1985. Laporan Kegiatan SBRLKT Citarum. Departemen Kehutanan Dirjen RRI. BRLKT Wilayah IV, Bandung. In: *Soil erosion and sediment yield in forest and agroforestry areas in West Java, Indonesia*. (eds. Kusumandari, A. & Mitchell, B.R.), *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, **52**, p. 376-380
- Ekholm, P., Turtola, E., Granroos, J., Seuri, P. & Ylivainio, K. 2005. Phosphorus loss from different farming systems estimated from soil surface phosphorus balance. *Agriculture Ecosystem Environment*, **110**: 266-278.
- European Environment Agency. 1995. CORINE Soil erosion risk and important land resources in the southern regions of the European community, commission of the European communities. Available online.  
<http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/COR0-soil>.
- Farida, Jeanes, K., Kurniasari, D., Widayati, A., Ekadinata, A., Hadi, D.P., Joshi, L., Deshi. & Suyamto, M.V.N. 2005. Rapid hydrological appraisal (RHA) of Singkarak Lake in the context of Rewarding Upland Poor for Environmental services (RUPES). Available online. :<http://www.worldagroforestry.org/>

sea/Networks/RUPES/download/Annual\_Reports/Appendices2005/Appendix4-2\_RHA\_Singkarak\_Report.pdf.

Gee, G.W. & Bauder, J.W. 1986. Particle-size Analysis. In: *Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 1. Physical and Mineralogical Methods*, (eds. Klute, A.), American Society of Agronomy and Soil Science Society of America, Madison, Wisconsin, p. 399-404.

Golden software. 2002. Surfer® 8 for windows. Golden, Colorado. Available online. <http://www.goldensoftware.com/products/surfer/surfer.shtml>.

Goovaerts, P. 2000. Geostatistical in soil science: state-of-the-art and perspectives. *Geoderma*, **89**: 1-45.

IITA 1979: Selected Methods for Soils and Plant Analysis, Manual Series No. 1, IITA, Ibadan, Nigeria, pp. 70.

Irvem, A., Topaglu, F. & Uygur, V. 2007. Estimating spatial distribution of soil loss over Seyhan River Basin in Turkey. *Journal of Hydrology*, **336**: 30-37.

Karyono. 1990. Home garden in Java: their structure and function. In: *Tropical Home Garden* (Eds. Lan-dauer, K., Brazil, M.),. The United Nations University Press, Tokyo, p. 138-146.

Kravchenko, A. & Bullock, D.G. 1999. A comparative study of interpolation method for mapping soil properties. *Agronomy Journal*, **91**: 393-400.

Kusumandari, A. & Mitchell, B.R. 1997. Soil erosion and sediment yield in forest and agroforestry areas in West Java, Indonesia. *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation*, **52**: 376-380.

- Liu, B.Y., Nearing, M.A., Shi, P.J. & Jia, Z.W. 2000. Slope length effects on soil loss for steep slopes. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, **64**: 1759-1763.
- Lu, H., Moran, C.J. & Prosser, I.P. 2006. Modelling sediment delivery ratio over the Murray Darling Basin. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, **21**: 1297-1308.
- Moehansyah, H., Maheshwari, B.L. & Armstrong, J. 2004. Field Evaluation of Selected Soil Erosion Models for Catchment Management in Indonesia. *Biosystems Engineering*, **88**: 491-506.
- Morgon, R.P.C., Quinton, J.N., Smith, R.E., Govers, G., Poesen, J.W.A., Auerswald, K., Vhisci, G., Torri, D. & Styczen, M.E. 1998. The European Soil Erosion Model (EUROSEM). A Dynamic Approach for predicting Sediment transport from fields and Small Catchments. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms*, **23**: 527-544.
- Odura, A.K. 1996. Rainfall Erosivity Map for Ghana. *Geoderma*, **74**: 161-166.
- Pimentel, D.N.K. 1998. Ecology of soil erosion in ecosystems. *Ecosystem*, **1**: 416-426.
- Renard, G.K. & Jeremy R.F. 1994. Using monthly precipitation data to estimate the R-factor in the revised USLE. *Journal of Hydrology*, **157**: 287-306.
- Renard, G.K., Foster G.R., Weesies, G.A., McCool, D.K. & Yoder D.C. 1997. Predicting soil erosion by water: a guide to conservation planning with the revised Universal Soil Loss Equation (RUSLE). Agric. Handb. Vol. 703. US Department of Agriculture, Washington DC, p. 1 – 251.
- Reeve, R.C. 1965. Particle-size Analysis. In: *Methods of Soil Analysis Part 1. Physical and Mineralogical Methods*, (eds. Black, C.A., Evans, D.D, White, J.L.,

- Ensminger. & Clark, F.E.), *American Society of Agronomy*, Madison, Wisconsin, p. 528-530.
- Saidi, A. 1995. The affecting factor of runoff, sedimentation and their impacts on land degradation in Sumani subwatershed, Solok, west Sumatra. PhD thesis. Padjajaran University. Bandung-Indonesia, p. 173-175.
- Shamshad, A., Leow, C.S., Ramlah, A., Hussin, W.M.A.W. & Sanusi, S.A.M. 2008. Applications of Ann AGNPS model for soil loss estimation and nutrient loading for Malaysian condition. *International Journal of Applied Earth observation and Geoinformation*, **10**: 239-252.
- Shi, Z.H., Cai, C.F., Ding, S.W., Wang, T.W. & Chow, T.L. 2004. Soil conservation planning at the small watershed level using RUSLE with GIS: a case study in the Three Gorge Area of China. *Catena*, **55**: 33 – 48.
- Shively, G.E. 2006. Externalities and labour market linkages in a dynamic two-sector model of tropical agriculture. *Environment and Development Economics*, **11**: 59-79.
- Soil Survey Staff. 1990. Keys to Soil Taxonomy. Washington, DC: USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service. Available online. [ftp://ftp-fc.sc.gov.usda.gov/NSSC/Soil\\_Taxonomy/keys/1990\\_Keys\\_to\\_Soil\\_Taxonomy.pdf](ftp://ftp-fc.sc.gov.usda.gov/NSSC/Soil_Taxonomy/keys/1990_Keys_to_Soil_Taxonomy.pdf).
- Solok Statistical Agency. 2002. Kabupaten Solok dalam Angka. Solok Regency in Figures. Kantor Statistik Kabupaten Solok. P. 147-148.(in Indonesia)

- Takata, Y., Funukawa, S., Yanai, J., Mishima, A., Akshalov, K., Ishida, N. & Kosaki, T. 2008. Influence of crop rotation system on the spatial and temporal variation of the soil organic carbon budget in northern Kazakhstan. *Soil Science & Plant Nutrition*, **54**: 159-171.
- Walling, D.E., He, Q. & Whelan, P.A. 2003. Using <sup>137</sup>Cs measurement to validate the application of the AGNPS and ANSWERS erosion and sediment yield models in two small Devon catchments. *Soil & Tillage Research*, **69**: 27-43.
- Walling, D.E. & He, Q. 1994: Rates of overbank sedimentation on the flood plains of several British rivers during the past 100 years. In: variability in stream erosion and sediment transport. *IAHS Publications*, **224**: 203-210.
- Wakatsuki, T., Shinmura, Y., Otoo, E. & Olaniyan, G.O. 1998. African-based sawah system for the integrated watershed management of the small inland valley of West Africa. FAO Water Report no. 17. p. 5-79.
- Wischmeier, W.H. & Smith, D.D. 1978. Predicting rainfall erosion losses: a guide to conservation farming, USDA Handbook: No. 537 US Department of Agriculture, Washington, DC. p 1-58.
- Woli, K.P., Hayakawa, A.H., Nagumo, T., Imai, H., Ishiwata, T. & Hatano, R. 2008. Assessing the impact of phosphorus cycling on river water P concentration in Hokkaido. *Soil Science & Plant Nutrition*, **54**: 310-317.
- World Bank. 1989. World Bank Technical Paper Number 127. In: *Watershed Development in Asia. Strategies and Technologies* (eds. Doolette, J.B. & Magrath, W.B.) Available online: <http://www-wds.worldbank.org/external/default/>

WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/1999/09/17/000178830\_98101904135527/Rend  
ered/INDEX/multi\_page.txt.

**World Resources Institute.** 2003. Deforestation in Indonesia. Available online:

([http://pdf.wri.org/sof\\_indo\\_pokok.pdf](http://pdf.wri.org/sof_indo_pokok.pdf)).

**Zhou, W. & Wu, B. 2008.** Assessment of soil erosion and sediment delivery ratio using remote sensing and GIS: a case study of upstream Chaobaihe River catchment, north China. *International Journal of Sediment Research*, **23**: 167-173.

#### List of Figures

Fig. 1. Study site and distribution of soil sampling points sites in Sumani watershed, West Sumatra, coordinates bases on UTM coordinate system WGS 84 Zone 47 Southern Hemisphere.

Fig. 2. Spatial distribution of resolute USLE factors in Sumani watershed. a: R-factor 1992, b: R-factor 2002, c: K-factor, d: LS-factor, e: C-factor 1992, f: C-factor 2002 : P-factor 1992, h: P-factor 2002

Fig. 3. Spatial distribution of land use patterns in Sumani watershed. a: 1992, b: 2002

Fig. 4. Soil erosion rate in 1992 (a) and 2002(b)

Table 1. Soil properties and *K*- factors in soil groups in of the Sumani watershed

Soil group	Topographical position	Land use type	coarse sand	very fine sand	silt	clay	Organic matter (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )	Soil water Permeability (x 10 <sup>-6</sup> m s <sup>-1</sup> )	Soil Structure code	<i>K</i> -factor
			(% )							
Aeric Tropaquept	Lower, n=13	Sw, Vg, Sr	16.05	2.81	55.27	25.86	38.4	2.67	2, 4	0.27
	Middle, n=1	Sr	5.70	5.81	54.20	34.30	40.0	1.86	2	0.21
Andic Humitropept	Middle, n=3	Vg, MG,	14.10	1.68	50.43	33.78	29.4	19.79	3, 4	0.25
	Upper, n=2	T, Sr	4.47	3.08	59.98	32.47	96.7	40.53	3, 4	0.06
Oxic Hapludand	Lower, n=2	F, MG,	2.65	5.35	65.10	26.90	45.5	0.12	3	0.39
	Middle, n=6	Sw, MG,	6.10	1.77	53.37	38.76	40.5	4.16	1, 2, 3	0.22
	Upper, n=19	Vg, Sw, MG, T, F	8.81	2.00	63.66	25.53	78.3	13.09	2, 3, 4	0.15
Typic Distropept	Lower, n=9	Sw, F., MG, Sr, Mg, F, Sw	7.55	1.81	66.51	24.13	55.1	7.06	2, 4	0.28
	Middle, =12	Sw	9.87	1.98	48.95	39.20	45.4	1.95	2, 4	0.22
Typic Eutropept	Lower, n=1	MG	20.50	1.20	27.00	51.40	55.7	> 56	4	0.19
	Middle, n=2	MG	4.65	8.65	46.30	40.40	37.7	0.56	2, 4	0.31
Typic Kandiudult	Lower, n=9	Vg, MG, Sw, Sr, F, Sr	4.09	1.87	45.94	48.10	51.7	2.63	2, 4	0.19
	Middle, n=3	Sr	2.80	3.00	40.73	53.47	51.7	1.49	4	0.21

Coarse sand (size 2-0.2 mm), very fine sand (0.05-0.02 mm), silt (0.02-0.002 mm), clay (< 0.002 mm).

Lower, 300-500 m asl; Middle, 500-1000 m asl; Upper > 1000 m asl. Sw, sawah; Vg, vegetable garden; Sr, shrub; MG, mix garden; T, tea; F, forest. Soil structure code 1, very fine granular <1 mm; 2, fine granular 1-2 mm; 3, medium – coarse granular 2 – 10 mm; 4, blocky, platy, massive.

Table 2. Monthly rainfall and rainfall erosivity (*R*-factor) in the Sumani watershed

Month	Monthly rainfall		Rainfall erosivity	
	1992-1993	1996-2007	1992-1993	1996-2007
	(mm)			
Jan	249.0	275.4	166.20	212.43
Feb	192.7	160.4	187.76	115.16
Mar	221.3	221.4	172.04	172.06
Apr	162.3	246.2	131.98	187.01
May	336.0	186.2	269.77	135.94
Jun	170.3	114.9	197.52	75.70
Jul	216.3	158.2	181.29	113.36
Aug	106.3	142.0	56.17	99.38
Sept	110.3	180.2	61.98	127.92
Oct	109.3	199.9	64.39	135.53
Nov	288.0	281.3	243.56	203.61
Dec	248.0	296.5	168.44	223.93



Table 3. *C*- and *P*- factors and land use for soil conservation practices

Land use	Conservation measures	<i>C</i> -factor	<i>P</i> -factor
Vegetables garden	Ground coverage <sup>a</sup>	0.4 <sup>b</sup>	0.5 <sup>b</sup>
Mixed garden and tea	Ground coverage	0.2 <sup>b</sup>	0.5 <sup>b</sup>
Coconut garden	Ground coverage	0.32 <sup>b</sup>	0.5 <sup>b</sup>
Sawah	Terraces	0.01 <sup>b</sup>	0.4 <sup>b</sup>
Shrub and <i>alang-alang</i>	none	0.02 <sup>b</sup>	1.0 <sup>b</sup>
Pine plantation	none	0.002 <sup>b</sup>	1.0 <sup>b</sup>
Grass land	none	0.29 <sup>b</sup>	1.0 <sup>b</sup>
Forest	none	0.001 <sup>b</sup>	1.0 <sup>b</sup>
Settlement	none	0.95-1 <sup>b</sup>	0.4 <sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Grasses or shrubs covered land surface of 20-80%.

<sup>b</sup> Sources from Abdurachman et al (1984).

Table 4. Change in land use type in the Sumani watershed during 1992 - 2002

Location	Land use type														C-factor	
	Area	Mixed garden		Forest		Vegetable		Sawah		Bush <sup>a</sup>		Settlement		1992		2002
		1992	2002	1992	2002	1992	2002	1992	2002	1992	2002	1992	2002			
	(km <sup>2</sup> )	( % )														
S1	134.7	5.7	8.6	51.0	35.0	21.4	32.4	15.2	15.2	0.0	0.1	5.2	7.0	0.15	0.22	
S2	201.8	12.2	6.3	12.7	5.4	21.7	20.7	39.6	37.4	2.1	13.6	11.4	16.5	0.22	0.26	
S3	84.0	7.8	10.3	41.2	25.2	24.8	35.9	16.7	16.8	0.0	0.7	8.2	11.1	0.19	0.28	
S4	107.9	22.5	25.9	12.6	6.6	22.9	22.9	16.8	15.9	0.4	1.6	16.8	19.0	0.32	0.35	
S5	54.8	11.7	20.5	48.1	12.2	16.0	25.4	18.0	15.8	0.0	16.8	5.3	8.6	0.14	0.24	
SW	583.3	11.9	12.2	28.9	15.9	21.7	24.9	24.4	23.3	0.9	3.7	9.9	13.3	0.21	0.27	
Average soil erosion		44.60	66.90	0.62	0.64	110.6	132.27	0.99	1.04	43.28	38.60	45.75	72.01			

S1= Sumani, S2= Lembang, S3= Gawan, S4= Aripian, S5= Imang sub-watershed, SW= Sumani watershed,

<sup>a</sup> Bush includes shrub, grass and *alang-alang*



Table 5. Sediment yields in sub-watersheds and the Sumani watershed in August 1992 to July 1993

Commented [JS42]: The table legend is misleading because you also use this table to compare with other countries.

Location	Soil Erosion Rate (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> y <sup>-1</sup> )		Study area (km <sup>2</sup> )	Measured Sediment Yield	Estimated Sediment Yield	SDR (%)
	1992	2002		1992	2002	
				(Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> y <sup>-1</sup> )		
S1	33.55	49.39	177	5.17	7.61	15.41
S2	38.5	40.49	192	3.88	4.09	10.1
S3	59.44	98.81	80	3.49	5.80	5.87
S4	45.14	57.08	70	3.85	4.87	8.53
S5	53.73	91.64	64	6.64	11.32	12.35
SW	43.13	58.91	583	4.53	6.18	10.50
Malaysia in 2005 <sup>a</sup>						
B. Teh (0.37)	93.76	30.27		10.87		12
B. Cempedak (0.37)	152.72	31.74		18.13		12
Kuala Tasek (0.37)	123.19	63.09		14.50		12
France in 2001 <sup>b</sup>						
Lautaret (0.03)	28.34	12.92		0.87		30
Belgium in 2001 <sup>b</sup>						
Hangeland (0.24)	11.14	12.92		7.29		65
Portugal in 1990 <sup>b</sup>						
Amedoria (0.15)	20.52	10.75		2.89		14
Greece in 1993 <sup>b</sup>						
Lagadas (0.13)	12.65	0.24		6.93		55

S1= Sumani, S2= Lembang, S3= Gawan, S4= Aripa, S5= Imang sub-watershed, SW= Sumani watershed

Number in parentheses indicate of C-factor, <sup>a</sup> Shamsyad et al. 2008, <sup>b</sup> Bakker et al. 2008

